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INTRODUCTION

1. The Plaintff, N & Z Instrumentation (Pty) Ltd (NZ) wants the defendant, Trolex SA (Pty)

Ltd (TSA) to pay it R 1,413,543,56 us 2 commission in respect of & sele of goods by TSA

o GFl mining (Pty) Ltd at ita Beatrix mine, The claim is based on the terms of an

agreement alleged to exist between TSA and NZ,

. The alleged agresment provided that NZ would have exclusivity within certain

* parameters to distribut the products of TSA and tht if TSA sold to customers within tho

zone of exclusivity an obligation upon TSA existed to nevertheless paytio NZa
cormission of 40 % of the selling price to end-user. Because it I3 alleged-that Beatrix
mine was in the zone of exclusivity, the 40 % conm\.i.ssion became payable and that sum
is R1,413,543.56, Furthermote, based on this alleged obligation of TSA, N2 wasts TSA
to account for &li its transactions to determine if other sales occurred which would attract

such a commission.

. TSA Is a subsidiary of Trolex Ltd (TUK). TSA is a small sales operation whose function

it to secure orders placed on the TUK factory in 'Stockport, England. Its local staff
consisted of the manager, Jacques Maartens and a buginess development officer, Zia
Hutton (Joubert by the time of trial) whose function was the backroom administration.
There “Irere two other staff, who, it is presumed, performed sales and afier sales roles;
they play no role in the ease. There were no resident directors in South Afiica, According
t Maartens his authority did not include contracting on behalf of TSA outside of sales

transactions.

. Trolex is & manufacturer of sophisticated instruments for use in health and safety

applications, especially in mining applications, such as toxic gas deteotors and the like,
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During 2007 Peter Dawson was the TUK. managing director and in 2008 he was
succeeded by John Plerce-Tones, During 2007 -2008 Ken Dawson was the global sales

Director. David. Gireen was the financial diteotor.

NZ is a distributor and reseller of industrial instruments, mainly in the genera] industrial
market, whose managing director is Rod Glatt, Tt has & sales network throughout South
Aftrica and imported, or bought goads locally, to supply end-users and derives its income

from marking up the price of goods so procured and on-sold..

It is NZ’s case that;
6.1. an oral agreement was coneluded on 4 December 2007 hetween Glatt, and Ken -
Dawson which provided for: _
6.1.1. asgole distributorship for NZ of Trolex goods throughout all Southem Africa
except for certain limited markets wheré TSA was already active, and
6.1.2. & discount to NZ on Trolex products of 20% of the selling price to end users,
6.2, Further, oﬁ 9 April 2008, Green and Clatt agreed to increass the discount rate to 40%

of selling price to end yser.

Trolex denies any agreements ag alleged were concluded, despite nego'tiationﬁ towards an
agreement fo regulate a distributorship, It is not Trolex’s case that ii did not want a
distributorship agreement. Ultimately, it contends, the main reason for not concluding

such an agreement was the insistence by NZ that a discount of 40 % was necessary to

_ undertake the business. This rate, so Trolex says, was beyond reach as it denuded profit

aceruing to Trolex to such 3 degree that it was not vizble,
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knowledge of exactly what occurred in Johannesburg, Meartens and Hutton, both ex-staff

of TSA dnd both having left TSA under circurastanceg of disaffection, testified in support

Self evidently, the ipse dixit of the withiesses, one way or the other, is not itself helpfui;
rather, serutiny of the contemporary expressions of the parties must pe examined to

855253 the probabilities of the truthfulniess or Accuracy of the respeciive assertions,
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inferences to be drawn from allegations of fact, of which some are in dispute, The
essential contention, on behalf of NZ, is not that the correspondence evidences an
agreement 43 alleged, but rather that, properly construed, it constitutes powerfyl
c':orroboration.of the testimony tendered that an aral agreement was concluded on the
terms alleged, and on that footing, the denial by Trolex of such an agresment is to be

disbelieved.

11. Further, it is c_cmmoh cause that during the period betweeﬂ February 2008 and about July
| 2008, several quotations wers issued by TSA to NZ which reflect a 20% and latm; a40%
discourtt. Also, afier the 9 April meeting, at which it is alleged the rate was revised, there
is evidence that the official price list was amended to reflect special prices to NZ; an
" ‘old' price of 20% and & *new’ price of 40 %. NZ invokes this courss of dealings as

corroboration of an agreement on these prices. This contention is addressed hereafier,

12. The triﬁ court addressed the same conspscius of igsues and 'conclu.ded that, on the
evidence adduced, a case had not been proven that an agreement, as alleged, had beent
concluded, Almost all the factual findings of the trial court are challenged for want of
properly weighing the probabilities. As with all evaluations of factual disputes, within the
totality of the given saga thers can often be found to éxist some induciae which could
point towards or away ﬁ'om the proposition at stake. An examination of the relevant
evetits requires a holistic approach in order to determine whether the ofs on a plaintiff to

prove its alleged contract is tipped in its favou,

The Law about determining the existence of consensus by businessmen
13. As part of the argument on behalf of NZ, it was advanced that the paradigm within which

the events fell to be adjudged was that of the parties reaching an oral informal contract

F=bT7
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which was not made subject to a requitement for enforceability to be reduced to writing
and when they did move to contemplate writing it was indeed to be a mere recordal.
Then, as matters developed, they modificd the original terms as 1o pme but the otiginal

oral contract was never compromised,

In the demsmns of Pitout v North Lwestock Cu-Operatwe Ltd 1977(4) SA 842 (AD}
and of CGEE Alsthom Eqmpments et Enterpnses Electr:ques, South Afncan
Division v GKN Sankey (Pty) Ltd 1987 (1) SA 81 (AD), the Suprame court of appeal.
had uccasion to°address the problem of messy agreements in the courss of protracted
negot:latmns. In Pitout it was emphaa:sed that the question turns on the particular facts of
the casc(at 850D). The court alluded to the example illustrated in OK Bazaars v Bloch
1929 WLD 37, where nomﬂmtanding agreement on the price for the sale of shares, so
held the court, the appreciation that there were other aspects not discussed when the price
Was agre;ed that would have to be discussed and agreed, meant no binding agreement had
been concluded. Reference with approval is made to Williston on Contrﬁets, 3™ ed, vol

1, 8e¢ 27 p61, and at 850F the court cites the following:

* Frequently negotiations for a contract are begun between parties by general
expression of a willingness to enter into a bargain upon stated terms and yet the
natural construction of the words and conduct of the parties is rather that they are
inviting offers or suggesting the terms of a possible future bargain, than making
positive offars”

In the Alsthom case, the parties were in exhaustive agd protracted negations which

. involved the revision and re-revision of the specifications of the project, Pressure by

Alsthont the sub-contractor to GKN Sankey to procure a commitment byjlt un, A telex

Was sent to Alsthom saying the tender had been awarded. Later the contract was awarded

to another company. Notwithstanding the telex there were impottant matters outstanding
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on anyones' version, However, upon a holistic apprecietion of the to-ing and fro-ing
manoeuvres of the parties, the court held that the balance was tipped in favour of a

binding agrecment. At 928 - E it was held that:

*There is no doubt that, whers in the course of negotiating e contract the parties
. téach an agreement by offer and acceptatice, the fact that there are still 2 number

of outstanding matters material to the contract upon which the parties have not yet
agreed may well prevent the agreement from having contractual force. A good
example of this kind of situation is provided by the case of OK Bazazzs v Bloch
(supra ) (see also Pitout v North Cape Livestock Co-aperative Ltd (supra )),
Where the law denies such an agreement contractual foree it jg because the

- evidence shows that the parties contemplated that ransensss ot the outntanding
matters would have to be reached before a binding contract could come into
existence (see Pitout's case supra at 851 B-C). The existence of such outstanding

| Matiers does nol, however, necessarily deprive an agreement of contractual Joree,
The parties may well intend by their agreement to conclude & binding contract,
while egrecing, either expressly or by implication, to leave the outstanding maters
to future negotiation with a view t0 & comprehensive contract, In the event of
agreement being reached on all outstanding matters the comprehensive contract
would incorporate and supersede the original agreement, If, however, the parties
should fail to.reach agreement on the oulstanding matters, then the
original contract would stand. (See generally Christie, The Law of Contract in
South Africa at 27 - 8,) Whether in & particular case the initja] Agreement acquires
contractual force or not depends upon the intention of the parties, which is to be '
gathered from theirconduct, the terms of the agteement and the surrounding
cireyrnstances (see Pitrmt's case supra at 851D-Q). I did uut undersiang counse! to
dispute the correctness of these general propositions, '

(Emphasis suppliad)
16. Ingtructive in regard to this problem is the decision of Heher J (as he then was) in Titaco

Projects (Pty) Ltd v AA Alloy Foundry (Pty) Ltd 1996 (3) SA 320 (W). In that

matter, the parties wera in dispufe about whether 2 binding contract had come into being,

17. Titaco had agreed to supply certain industrial shoes for g amelter to its customer. It
subcontracted the manufacture to AA Alloy. The shoes were not up to standard, and the
customer looked to Titaco and Titaco looked to AA Alloy to make good. A settlement

agreement was pursued by Titaco and AA alloy which had as it aim the re-supply of C
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shoes that would mest the customer’s requirements. For the moment )l was well. Then
the customer put up new and stringent specifications, AA alloy protested that its
agreement to resupplj to the customer’s specifications was subject to AA Alloy accepting
the new specifications. This was taken by Titaco as a repudiation and the litigation

ensued,

18, Heher J epproached the question fram the point of departure that the evidence had to
demonstrate an intention to contract through matching offers and acceptance (at 331D).
The intentions of the parties were to be sought by examining their ‘contemporaneons
conduct’ (at 331F). The teference to the initlal agreement being *in principle” was an
'i.rnportant benign assumption that the remaining details outstanding after a ‘framework’
had been agreed did not justify a finding that 2 binding agreement, absent the refinemens,
had been achieved . Citing tiie passage from the Alsthom Case mentioned above, Heher
J boncludad that on those facts an application of the Alsthom Case outcome was not .
applicable, He went on to observe at 337B:

“The second insuperable obstacle to the success of the appeal is the absence of

the substance necessary to constitute an enforceable contract. Inherent in the

Alsthom judgment (at 92E) is the quatification that unless the terms upon

which a party relies for the supposed agresment have an independent

meaningful existence (Je divorced from any terms left over for later ‘

negotiation), there is scant possibility, if any, of deciding that binding : i

agreemnent has come into being, Sce also Kenilworth Palace Investments (Pty)
Ltd and Another v Ingala and Another1984 (2) 8A 1 (C) at 11F-G,

19, And further st 337G - 338F;

“1t it not helpful to reason that beeauss the Cowl i (he Alsthom case found

that the updated technical specification was still an unrasolved subject for

debate afier 25 June 1979, but nevertheless concluded that the parties had on : i
that date reached corsensus, so ought we aiso to find that the unresolved
copper specification provides no obstacle to effective agreement, The oases |
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differ rot0 caelo. In Alsthom, the acceptance came at a time when the
contractual framework was secure enough to enforce the agreement. The
appellent in that matter chose to bind itself without ensuring that it wil]
prevailed in relation to the outstanding issues. None of those lssues was
apparently so fundamenta] as to render the agreement vague in is terms as a .

‘tesult of its absence. That is not the case here; there is no contractual

- framework in the form of & tender into which life can be breathed by
performance; the purity of the metal to be used in the manufacture was the
root of the previous difficulties. Simply to have agreed that the replacement

shoes were to be made of copper was, in the context of the pronosed
subcontract, only a preliminary step ingufficient to implement manufacture of
the shoes. The witnesses (and counsel) conceded a3 much. The qualification
which I find in the Alsthom judgment is also consistent with the established
principle that an agreement 1o negotiate has no exigible cantent. That ths
outstanding issues could vary easily be overcome by parties acting reasonably
or that the parties, at the time of their agreement in principle, foresaw no
difficulties in reaching consensus in the future is irrelevant: of OK Bazagars v
Bioch 1929 WLD 37 at 42, The only way in which the plaintiff could have

- made the ease of achleving future agreement part of its case wae by pleading

tacit terms, & route which it chose not to follow, Even if the facts justify the
inference that the parties were satisfled that they had reached an agresment
which was binding and acted accordingly, that could not create an agreement
where one did not exist: Kenifworth Palace Investments (Supra at 11H-12B).
The Court will not make a bargein for the parties if; although they thought
they were contracting, they nevertheless failed to reach an agreement on an
important term of their proposed bargain: Burroughs Machines Lid v Chenille
Corporation of S4 (P1y) Lid]964 (1) SA 669 {W) at 676B. It does not help to
reason, as the plaintiff's counsel has done (and as the leamed tria] Judge
Bocepted as & probability in favour of & binding agreement), that the second
stage of the agreement had no polnt without agreement on the first. Agreement

in stages certainly does not mean that consensus at the first of those stages is
legally enforceable, '

20. The upshot is that the enquiry is holistic and unmechanjcal.

=77
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A CRITICAL NARRATIVE OF THE MATFERIAL EVENTS

21. The analysis that follows is principally chronological, but ties in prior or subsequent

cvents end assesses the probabilities of aspects of the versions in the course of the

nartative, The documents lutroduced into evidence are referenced by square brackets,

Pre- 4 December 2007

22, In 2007 the parties were total strangers to one another and had o trading history

23,

whatsoever. Glatt says he came to hear of Trolex. He initiated contact, by email and
telephone with Peter Dawson m England, They dismiss;d the prospect of NZ selling
Trolex products, These exchanges ouiminated in by visit by Glatt to TSA, at its
Johannesburg offices and then on 22 October 2007, after Glatt had ostensibly sent
information about NZ to TUK, Pefer Dawszon suggesting NZ sell Trolex products to test
the local market, He added that he would send the sales manager to Johann;sbt};rg to do
training on Trolex products he requested. Glatt at once invited such a visit. By this tlimc,
if not before, NZ was made privy to the Iimited' sales development capacity of TSA which
addressed only a segment of the coal mining market. Apparently, before 4 December one

transaction only was initiated.
The meeting of 4 December
Ken Dawson,'whilst in South Aftica to address other business, also visited NZ with

Maartens and addressed the sales team on Trolex products, After that, at NZ's offices, 2

business relationship between NZ and Trolex was discussed between Ken Dawson and

F-677
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Glatt, What else happened is disputed, The evidence about the happenings was primarily
commentaries on the subsequent emails of 7 December 2007 which alluded to the
meeting. Glatt, in evidence, bolstered by Maartens in certain respects, says an agresment,

in the terms alleged, was sealed. Ken Dawson denies that flatly.

24. It was argued that by 4 Decemtber the parties were m an advanced stage of negotiations.
This is an exaggetation. The superficial prior confact, as alluded to above, and as later
described in & letter of 23 July 2008 by Glett, belies such an ides. Further, it was érgued
that TSA lacked capacity to expand the Trolex market and NZ could rescue it from
stagnation, This ideﬁ is advanced to suggest that; on the probabilities, Trolex grasped a
golden opportunity to jump into bed with NZ, The value to Trolex of the opportunity
presented by a relationship with N..T; may be true, but is not of great signifivance: it
represents no more than the sine qué non for contemplating a co-operative arrangement,
not a factor that enhances the probability thet & contract as alleged was reached. Indeed, .
the terms alleged were onerous and unattractive to Trolex, to say the least, a consideration

that enjoys attention elsewhere,

25, Ken Dawson says his ﬁgit te NZ on 4 December 2007 wes to perform a routine
presentation to a potential agent, o task he had undertaken many times before, It was
relaﬂvely brief. Whether the hctivity he engaged in is called “pm;ie.nmtinn" of “trainipg”
is inconsequential. He says'hc did not come to sea! an agreement, but to introduce Trolex
and its products to NZ. He was himself ignorant of the South Aftican market or its
potential for Trolex products, Ken Dawson says in evidetioe that he came away from the
meeting of 4 December having asked for & plan of sorts, & pales strategy to assess the way

forward. Such a request seems an obviously probable event: je any supplier abroad would
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want to know how a brand new agent might break into untapped markets, No such plan

ever materialised from NZ,

26. The emails exchanged by Glait and Peter Dawson on 7 Dacember cannot, in my view, be

read in a way to suggest more than what Ken Dawson says happened. Glatt's own email
[1512] addressed to Peter Dawson, reports on Ken Dawson's visit as a *good
presentation’ and an ‘overview® and expresses ‘keenness’ to ‘work w1th Trolex®, Glatt
lists issues that were ‘disc.ussed’ and does 50 in the form of questions yet to be answered
rather than gs matters which were resolved, Absulutely nothing is mentioned about
pricing. In thres of the five hstcd points, Glatt tautologously. in faintly imploring tones,
asks about assurances that Trolex will niot cut out NZ once » market demand has been
developed. In all of this emai] there not & smidgen of an allusion to an agreement on

anything resembling thc: terms alleged by NZ 1o found the claim.

27. Peter Dawson's immediate teply was penned before Ken Dawson's return to TUK. He

28.

notss having had interim reports from Ken Dawson and alludes to the ‘market potentia]®
thought to exist in South Africa, He adverts to the risk of crossover sales by Trolex and‘
NZ and says that “we wif needﬁ agree who goes where’, asserts that Trolex is run by
¢thical chaps, boasts of thirty healthy agenoy ralationsﬁips elsewhere in the world and
concludes by saying thq,t Trolex. and NZ need to ‘be comfortable with any errangement
that we propose’ Of no little significance, he invites Glatt to initiate an agresment for

signing,

Notvdthstanding the absence of any reference 1o an agreement, still less to the terms now
alleged by NZ, according to Glatt, Ken Dawson and he shook hands on a firm and

binding agreement which included both a discount of 20% of the Trolex selling price and

1L
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the right to mark up a further 20% on the NZ customer price, and exclusivity over
markets not being tapped by TSA. The pleadings misrepresentad the price allegedly
agreed to 85 40 % of Trolex selling price at this date, an error which Glatt acknowledged
and retracted. How he could have allowed the case to be pleaded as it was is not
explained, still less how he could verify the canse of action under oath in a summary
judgment affidavit, Maartens went along with Glatt’s version but struggled to contribute
any substance about any exchange on the terms supposedly agreed, and rather, tended to

fixate on the handshake,

29. In my view, CHlatt’s version is simply unsustainable, The monumenta! absence of ahy
allusion to any of the alleged tetms bf 2 §f gniﬂqant agreement must carry with it the

logical implication that there was no agreement,

30 Driven to meet that obvious problem, Glatt protested that the fact that NZ at once
embarked on marketing the Trolex products is-cﬁrréborative of such an a}greemant
beeanse, so it is advanced, it would have been senseless to do so without the necessary
gssurance and protection of exdluéivily. Inmy view, such conduct does not diminish the
contrary proposition. Moreover, this contention has to compete with a more obvions
inference for primacy: Glatt was overly eager to imypress Trolex with the prowess and
reach of his sales team. He had sought. out Trolex during 2007 with a view to expanding
his own stable of sales offerings despite no history of prior contact whatsoever, 2 strong
indication of NZ's needs to find fresh revenye sireams, from which it is appropriate to |

infer a need by NZ for such revenue streams,

31. The contention that the contents of the emails of 7 December can be construed as
supporting the conclusion of an agresment is unsound, The fingemeil-clutch at Glatt's

own mention in hiy email of an ‘agreement to provide support’ as corroboration of an
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larger agresment is ripped from the ledge by the further remarks in the very same
sentence, in which the gaid support is seid to be for 4 ‘eonfidence building/getting to
know you exicise’, Such fuzzy- wu2zy statements ar¢ not the stuff of an agreement
about exclusivity, & condition that is by no means detarmined by vague or ‘in principle’
assertions. Moteover, the reference by Glatt to the relationship *growing’ into a ‘full
scale situation® a plainly tentative enfreaty, has the contention for a lérger agreement

having been sealed, plummeting down the oliff face,

32, A quote had Been 1ssued, ostensibly before the 4 December meeting, and was the matter,
pregumably, addressed in an email of Glatt on 26 Octobey 4007, This beearme the yuljcul
matter of an email sent on 19 Decatmber by Peter Dawson to Giatt, It refets {o his
dissatisfaction with the content of a quote &nmaﬁng from TSA., Peter Dawson makes two
points of relevance to the present controversy. First, he says that Ken Dawson's |
instructions on what to quote “'so that acceptable margins were obtained” had been
ignored. Secondly, Peter Dawson says that NZ enquiries should be addressed directly to
TUK. whereupon “We 1;;vill ensure that we dllow for an adequate mark up for you',
Sigm'ﬁcanﬂy, no mention is made of 2 20% disconnt nor, indeed, of a fixed discount,

Such remarks are inconsistent with the alleged agreement on price,

33. It was stoutly argued that a-court should not be prissy when, examining the content of the
utterances of business people and unduly criticise them for the absence of clarity ﬁ:at
might be expected from & lawyer. The caution mentioned by Harms JA in Namibian

inerals Corporation Ltd v Bengysla Concessions Ltd 1 7(2) 8A 548 (A) ot 561G is

invoked:

“Businessmen are often content to conduct their affairs with only vague or
incomplete agreements in hand. They then tend to rely on hope, good spirits,
bona fides and commercial expediency to make such agreements work. But when

F=§77
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they are at loggerheads, It appears to be futile to consider whether they would
have been able to do so. Once a Court is called upon to determine whether an
agresment is fatally vague or not, it must have regard to a number of factual and
policy considerations, These include the parties' initial desize to have entsred into
B binding legal relationship; that many contracts (such as sale, lease or
partnership) are governed by legally Itnplied terms and do not require much by
way of agreement to be binding (cf Pezzutto v Dreyer and Others1992 (3) SA 379
(A); that many agreements contain tacit terms (such es those relating to
reasonableness); that language is inhérently flexible and should be approached
sensibly and fairly; that contracts are not concluded on the supposition that there
will be litigation; and that the Court should strive to uphold - and not destroy -
bargains,

Furthermore, the endorsement and amplification of that approach in National Serap Metal

{Cape Town) (Pty) Ltd 2012 (31 SA 300 (SCA) esp [23] ~ [25] is urged upon us. Thers

Leach JA held:

“[23] Moreover, it is also necessary to guard against approaching a case such as the
present on the assumption that businessmen will act in 8 businesslike manner or with
meticulous concern for the keeping of accurate records, All too often they do not, As
Harms JA has pointed out: :

'Businessmen are often content to conduct their affairs with only vague or
inzsmaplete Agseviuaals i linad, They then wnd 10 rely on hope, good spirits,
bona fides and commercial expediency to make such agreements work,'

This is all the more so in this case where there was not only a close symbiotic
relationship between NSM and M&R, but where M&R also had representation on
NSM's board and was therefore a party o its business plans and strategies. The
closeness of the relationship between M&R on the one hand and NSM and Murec on
the other may readily explain why the respective parties did not conduct their business
reludonships with greater rormauty, in particular it may well explain why agreement
on a ten-ysar oral lease did not result in it immediately being reduced to writing. And
in regard to this latter issue, it is significant, as Movsas pointed out, that it had taken
years for the amending agreement to be reduced to writing despite consensus on its -
terms having been reached. Consequently, so he alleged, NSM's board had become
acoustomed to the slow processes that took place within M&R 's organisation and that
he therefore never entertained any doubts that M&R would honour the oral

. agreement, This is a telling comment, and in the light of the relationship between

M&R and NSM and the previous delay that Movsas mentioned, his explanation
cannot be regarded as being one which is so far-fetched or untenable that & court is
Justified in rejecting it merely on the papers,

[24] In addition, as is clear from what I have already said, the respondents’ argument
s based in varlous respects upon what was or was not said at 4 number of NSM board
meetings. relying on the minutes kept of those meetings for that purpose, It is
hecessary to remernber that minutes of hnard mestings do not purport to be ¢ verbatim

F-577




»

04-06-2019  15:48 FROM-dat | ine Modder fontein 0116080072 T-236 P.G16/0230  F-B77

16

VRS S&1Q, ratfer the Al B S-SV ARSI et wag-
discussed, highlighting what the com ilet, usnally the company secretary, considered
to have been of importance, Merely because something is not specifically recorded in
a minute does not necessarily mean that it was not mentioned, even in passing, and
this should be borne in mind when considering what effect the minutes have upoty the
probabilitics.

[25] In the light of these remarks, it is clear that undue weight should not be sccorded
to the fact that the oral agreement the appeliants Tely upon was not specifically
recorded in the minutes of any NSM board meetings. As clearly mentioned, the
minutes of 19 June 2008 record that, after g presentation had been made in regard to
the installation of a Newell 300 HP heavy-duty shredder at an anticipated cost of
apptoximately R45 million, the board 'agreed to go ahead with installation of this
shredder on condition that 2 long term lease agreement be entered into with CISCO
whete the shredder is to be eracted'. While it is so that Noonan, M&R's representative
on NSM's board, did not nttomd thas partieulal wissling, be must have recelved the
minutes as he attended the following NSM board meeting on § August 2008 when the
minutes of the meeting of 19 June 2008 were confirmed and the shredder issua

was again discussed. By then, according to the appellants, the meeting at the airport at
which they alleged Noonan had agreed to bind M&R to a lease for ten years, had
already occurred. Such a lease would have fulfilled the condition stipulated at the 19
June 2008 meeting as being necessary for the hoard to persist with the purchase of g -
shredder. Significantly, it did so persist. The acquisition of a shredder was disonssed
again ut the board meetings of 20 November 2008 and § March 2009, both of which .
Noonan attended. Neither the minutes of these nor any other board mesting mentions
a failure to obtain the required commitment to a long-term lease as a potential
stumbling block to NSM making the substantia] capital investment required to
purchase a shredder. It is hard to coneeive that no one on the board ever thought about
the {ssue, Noonan included. Movsas, however, stressed that, after the agreement on
the ata] lease was sotluded, bs infurmed the other non-Mak members of the board
thereof end, if he did, this might well explain why the issue was never raised
pettinently at subsequent board meetings. By the same token, Noonan's failure to raise
the issue could also be explained by his knowledge of the lease. In these
cifcumstarces there really is nothing overtly sinfster in the failure of the minutes to
specifically record that oral agreement hadt been renched in regard to & Jong-term Jease
to accommodate the new shredder,

34, 1t is, however, not 10 be overlooked, that 1n each case, where such a caution is pertinent, -
the case must be assessed an its own facts, Doubitless, where business partners and othar
trading associates of long standing, who interact with a degree oflinfonnality, have
formed friendships and have assumed understandings of one enother, (such as in the
Nationa! Scrap Metals Case) they might indeed exercise less cage in expressing what are

belicved to be their common ideas and their expressions of their agreements may indeed
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be vague or embiguous and even abjectly slovenly. Where total strangers treat with one
another (such as in the present case) that dynamic is less likely to oceut, Necessatily,
when delving into the pot of circumstances, \;\rhat assutnes true significance is siot merely
lack of precision, nor remarks merely consistent with the Iater elleged consensus, but
expressions and conduct which are inconsisient with the consensus alleged to have been

achieved,

35, Moreéver, the persons whose actions are serutinised must be assessed in proper context
too. The business practises of the apocryphal Jules Street second hand car dealer and a
stereotypical member of a leading stockhroker are not measured with the same stick, In
this case, the evidence discloses that Glatt is sn Enginocr, an MBA. gruduate and a
businessman of many years experience in Johannesburg, The manner in which he
conducts business and the choice of expressing himself must be asse-lssed a.ccbﬂingly.
Morcovef, Glatt exhibited important insights into the dynamics of a relationship in terms
of which a local distributor sells the products of an overseas suppher who has a lccally
based outlet. The risk was reaI that the Jocal dxsmbutor might invest time and maoney in
developing a local market unly to havc the supplier then cut it out of the supply chain and
deal directly with the end-users, The solution to that risk was of cardinal mportance

Glatt was vocal about this issue from outset, and rightly so.

36. Self- evidently, the obvious solution was exclusivity in defined markets; ie 2 sole
distributorship. Glatt claims he achieved this through an oral agreement on 4 December,

notwithstanding no reference to such an aﬁreemant in the 7 December email,

37, It was argued that we should find the naturalio of the agreement were orally agreed and

that they were so elementary that the parties, because of their common understanding, had

m
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no need to express these terms in the subsequent correspondence, ( See Kerr, The
Principles of the Law of Conﬁact, 6" ed, Butterwarths af p338 -339 on the use of this
term) In my view, it is unhelpful, and perhaps dangerous,. to contemplate an agresment,
such as the one here alleged, as being one which can be wrapped up by a consensus on
the so-called maryralio. That nomenclature may be useful when dealing with generic
transactions of ancient provenance, but there is nothing generic about the material terms
necessaty to tie two traders into an ‘sxclusiw}ity relationship’ which has not only one
obvious and predicable set of rights and obligations, but is, rather, o formula to be
especially inveﬁtcd to deai with a range of possible pragmatic outeomnés which need to be
thought of and accepted or rej ected or compromised about. These circumstances mean
thata quickic consensus is uniikely to oecur abm;t this sort of agreement. Indeed, this sort
of agreement is par excellence, & type of agteemén.t where the devil lies in the detail and
to contend that it can meaningfully be concluded other than by addressing and spelling
out unequivocally the exact details which, thereby, achieves the necessary consensus, is

difficult to accept,

It was argued that, subject only to & refinement later achieved on a change in the discount
rate from 26% 10 40 % of published prics, the whole agreement as allégad was concluded
oﬁ'4 December. In my view sudh a conclusion is unsupported by the evidence. The

references to the texts of the two emails of 7 December, cited above, are inconsistent with

such an inference being reasonably drawn,

Moreover, given Glatt's legitimate anxicty about the jssue of natenfial ‘crnssnusr’
trading, it is difficult to reconcile that awareness with his alleged readiness to be bound by
mete oral terms only, rather than secure the exact agreement, properly, in writing, Indeed,

to the contrary, in my view, an examination of his conduet and communications reveals
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that a proper written agreement is preciscly what he did try, n vain, to achieve, It was
conceded by Glatt that, in hié efforts to record the terms of an agreement, when his last
revision of 2 draft agreement (bsing the third version thereof) of 15 April walls presented,
" there remained, on his own set of terms, dstails yet to be worked out on the limits of the
markets, It was nevertheless argued that this Wwas not & genuine problem because the
peculiar circumstances of these two parties were such that there was no room for
ambiguity about the zones of exclusivity and any lack of clarity was more appa'relnt than
real. This submission makes no allowance for the concomitant notion of a penalty
-commission hmnminglpayahle for trespags and ignores the putting up of the competing
model contained in thé second draft from TSA in which an introduction-commission-onty
médel was posed, Moreover, the flaw in this proposition, advanced on behalf of NZ, is
illustrated ib respect of the ﬁeatrix mine trangaction dsbacle, where Glait alleges TSA

poached a NZ elient; an issue which enjoys specific attention hereafter,

The Pre-% April Meeting period

40, During this period thera was one mesting and two drafts agreements were generated, In

'+ addition several quotes were issuad by TSA to NZ,

41. Glatt, Maartens and Ken Dawson met at a Norwood restaurant on 22 January at g time

when no transactions had yet occurred; the first business to bubble up after 4 December
Wwas a quote issued on 15 February.[1536] Mazartens, in the main, testified aboyt this
meeting, He says thet pricing was the major {ssue discussed, that p 40 % arrangement was
struck and of Dawson’s attitude he said ‘I don’t think he had a problem’. Curiously, Glatt

did not even allude to this meeting in his evidence in chief. When asked about it in Cross-
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ded it as a social get together. He said

1t did not dispute that it could have been

s indeed addressed, Ken Dawson said

1 the mining sector. NZ operated, as he
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45. Further, the draft contains provisions about a pricing sttucture to NZ in terms of which
Trolex is to *maintain an official price list’ in which all quotes o NZ are to be at g 20%

discount and e “further 20 % discount’,

46. Ken Dawson says that when he saw this document he was ‘stumped” as it did not reflect

whet was disoussed in December 2007 or in January 2008 when he had met Glatt.

47. A response from Trolex came on | April 2008 [1548] in the form of & draft countes.
proposal, The genesis of this document is itself the subject of debate. It emerged from
T8A; Manrtens says it carried the approval of TUR, hut when certein provieione waro

debated he suggested that Hutton without his input might be msponbible for the

provisions. Hutton says that Maartens stood over her shoulder as she composed it aftera

discussion of Glatt’s draﬁ

48. Hutton could not recollect if it had been sent 10 TUK. An email of 1 April confirms that
she did send it. [1553] Further, the adverse ramiﬁc&tions to Trolex of the model NZ was
asking for are mentioned by her in that email, It also says that the TSA staff want to
discuss pricing with Green when he would be ; in Johanpesburg the follomng week.
Maartens was vague about whethey any changes that were made after it was sent to TUK,

Meaartens was adamant he had no Powers to contragt himself,
49, The critical portions of the draft, dated 1 April 2008, read thus:

Paragraph 3: ¢ Trolex hereby appoints N&Z as its exclusive distributor, in certain
Specific areas (as introduced to Trolex by N&Z) Trolex and N&Z customers will be

defined to by mutual agresment (s discussed in point 1.3 in the specific doctment,
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ennexure A to be updated if and when needed) Commission will only be paid when

N&Z introduce [sic] a customer/mine to TSA.” Annexure A was blank,

Paragraph 12(c): “ Any direct sales by Trolex SA to N7Z customers (as defined by
annexue A) will obligate Trolex to pay a commission of 20% of the OLP [official

listed price] or as defined by the margin split on annexure C to N&Z,”

These parﬁctﬂar provisions, Hutton said in evidéﬂce, were inserted to protect Trolex. This
awargness by her of Trolex's interests and the initiative taken to protect them was
notable, and must be borne in mind when weighing her evidence at tria] about what she

then claimed to have bean agreed between NZ and Trolex.

When Giatt saw the } April draft from Trolex he was agitated and says he voiced his

resistance to its terma to Maariens. Glatt recognised that the 1 April draft contradicted the

"ideaof cxcluéivity that he wanted. Plainly, an introduction commission wag not what he

wanted nor naedeld, nor a discount rate less than 40 %. Curiously, Maartens says he

thought Glatt was ‘happy with it’, a certain improbability, not lsast of all because it was
Glatt’s unhappinoss thot prampted hin 16 sak Manclens to sat up & meerng with a 1uk
representative. Green, the financial director of TUK, who was vigiting TSA on a routine

trip to address Financlal Year End matters, was asked, at the last minute, to meet Glatt,

The evidence tendered about these events amounted to 2 long commentary on the

 documents with little to add thereto, Glatt would have it that the various drafis, of which

these were the first and second, evidence merely an ‘evolution’ of the refationship

premised on an initisl agreement sealed in Decembet, rather than a course of negotiations,
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The reader of the drafts cannot reasonably reach the canclusion that these drafts point to
anything more than an exchange of positions in the course of negotiations. Neither draft
suggests a prior agreement existed or that the dovuments are recordals thereof, still less
refinements of a pnur égreement, Important aspects, as alluded to above, critical to make -
commercial sense of the proposed agresment are consciously outstanding, More
importantly, if the parties were, in April 2008, st} fencing with one another about a 20%
or & 36% rate of discount and moreover fencing with one another about whether &
commission might be payable to NZ only ifit introduced a customer to Trolex or payable
on 2 blanket ent:t]ement to & commission on the grounds of g trespass, the'idea that the
key elements of a sealeq agreement could have been achieved on 4 December is brought

into serlous question,

Glatt cunccdsd that a response from Trolex in the form of the 1 Apnl draft was peouliar if

an agreement already exiated, on the terms he alleges, and he added that such conduct

g, tn him, ‘unngooptablo’ Iswever, . v, weansdeaed din view 1o reter Dawson

nor to Ken Dawson, with whom, he contends, an agreeryent in December had been

reached,
The meeting of 9 April 2008

Glett says that at thils meeting, Green agreed to change material portions of the 1 April
Trolex draft to accommodate Glﬁt‘t’s demands and that Glatt was tasked with producing a
revision to be sent to TUK, for signature. Glatt annotated the | April draft during the
wieeling, However, the annotations are themselves inconsequential and do not gven serve

as the rough text of any material devigtions,
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56. Glait's evidence to substantiate these allegations was to Tlourish his raworked draft dated

15 April.[8]. The oritical portions of the 15 April draft which differ from the 1April draft,

provided:

56.1, That Trolex wuulﬁ retain exclusivity in its traditional méarkets to be defined in
an ;mnexure ‘A1, (left blank); both Trolex and NZ would trade with customers listad '
in annexure *A2" (left blank) provided that Trolex apphied a price structure as agraed
in.thc draft; an.d NZ enjoys exclusivify in all other areas in Southern Africa, (vlause
3)

56.2, That Trolex would maintain an official price list to end-users which would
allow NZ an effective 40 % discount, mentioned in aq annexure (Clause 5), and if
Trolex sold directly within this NZ exclusivity category of customers, Trolex would
be liable to pay NZ 240 % commission on selling price o end- user (Clause 8), (The
.reference ii1 the previous draft that an introduction to the sales prospect would be the

trigger for remuneration was, significantly, jettisoned)

57. Green says it was solely because he was fo'r'iﬁitously 6:1 the spot, he had been asked to
check up on matters because of confission among the TUK directors about what was
really going on. Anterior to the confusion was & growing dissatisfaction with TSA

nianagement, in partioular Maariens’ alleged inadequacies in managing TSA,

58. Green says he was uninformed about developments between NZ and Trolex. Glatt, on this
aspect offered no rebuttal other than to allude to Green being copied with emails, Green
says that he did not go to the meeting briefed with details and had no intention of

concluding any agreement. He relied on being informed about the status guo et the
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meeting, He stated that he had, in any event, no authority to contract for Trolex and did
not routinely engage in such matters as financial director. His mandate was to determine
the status guo and report to the TUK board. There is no rebuttal of this evidence, and
moreover, given the fact that Greén had no prior involvement on any version, no reason

to infer that it was improbable.

59, Green flatly denies anything was agreed. He confirms the 40 % rake off :was discussed,
Such a pries structure was to him manifestly impossible o utilise and he said so. He.
denies there was a discussion about amaﬁding a price list. The nub was, so he says, the
demand by Glatt for a 20% +20% structure which meant Trolex would have to put up its
prices. Thg_t decision was ot one he alone could make, regardless of his personal views, -
On that issue he envisaged a q;;onsultation at board level, He agrees that Glatt undertook to
rework the 15 April draft and sent it to TUK, implicitly to facilitate that end, His next and
only involvement was when he saw the 15 April draft from Glatt, some time later, [8] at
TUK after his return home, whereupon he reported the events and his adverse views
about the differences to the 1 Agwil draft and the untenability of a 40 % discount to John

Pierce=Junes.

60. Maartens and Hutton both endorse Glatt’s assertion about the price change to 40 %, on 9
April and pt!;iﬁt to the amendment of the prioe list 1o show 40% of end user listed price.
Hutton says this internal price list was not referred to TUK. The denjal of knowledge of
this step by Dawson and Green was unrebutted. The extent of NZ's case was to allege
that the information was not concealed by the local staff, thus the directors had access to
the data: a wholly unconvincing premise 1o contend for any actual knowiedge on the part

of the diregtors.
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& 61. Accordingly, only the say-50 of Glatt. a5 supportad hy Manrtans and Histton, exiate to
substantiate such an agresment on 9 April, Tn my view, the reasonsble reader carmot, on
the text of the documents find corroboration of that assertion. On the contrary, the
exchange of drafts itself strongly points to the parties being engaged in an ongoing
negotiation. Morsover, an examinatior_l of the three drafts shows no pattem of

convergence towards consensus, rather the opposits is evidant,

l62. Notwithstanding all of these cdﬁsiderations, Glait says that so firm vlvaa the agresment
reached with Green on 9 April that the draft he prepared [8] was the final fext and awaited
only signatures. Desplte that belief, he nonetheless sent the 50~ called "final’ draft withous
his own signature. The court a quo gave weight to this omission to immediately sign the
amended draft that had been supposcdly'agraed to at the 9 April mesting and inferred that
the omission pointed towards there being no agreement. This conclusion was challenged
as & non sequitur on the footing that an agreement already cxist.ed; ie the 4 December
agreement. However, it s2ems to me that the boot is on the other foot, .If BN agresment
already existed, e an oral agreement on 4 December, then at beslt, the partics were
formally amending it in wrifing on 9 April: all the more renson {o complate thc. DADEIWOLh
there and there would be no need to refer it to the TUK directors for further scrutiny. In
those circumstances, forwarding a signed version could have been consistent with the

view that there wag nothing left to discuss; an unsigned version suggests otherwise, To an

observer, the 15 April draft is just that: another draft.

63, Moreover, no explanation is offered why Green would reverse the stance put up on behalf

of Trolex in the 1 April draft. What could possihly have neenrred tn parsuade Trolex to
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double the discount rate and, especially given the vagueness of the market carve up, and
t‘orgb the prudence of the device of an introductory commission so that Trolex was pinned
down to pay a penalty commission? The testimony reveals no substantive content to the
necessary debate and eanitulation inherant in tha nrannsitinn advaneed far the reuerse] k
What Glatt’s evidence does allage, is that when Green had capitulated, he said to hide t}xe
40 % in an annexure, & piece of cosmetic absurdity for &' document that would in any

event have been confidential to the two parties,
Post 9 April Meeting period

64. Green, upon his return m Engla:_md. as elluded to carlier, when reading the 15 April draft
realized at once it was‘ at mateta] varisnoe from the document discussed and was
unacceptable to Trolex. He went to John Pierce—Jones. No reply was given to Glart,
plainly a discourtesy that was unwarranted. Instead, Lee Pierce ~Jones was &ispatched to

¢valuate the South African operation.

63. In the meantime, when by 7 May 2008, nothing had matured about the 15 April draft,
(att therenpan ematled that he wished to pit the ‘contract to bed®, He wrote to John
Pierce Jones to say that the draft of 15 April was:

‘...in Hne with our agresment af our meeting at TSA, but if there were any
discrepancies or issues we are keen to discuss and resolve”.

66. He got a reply from John Plerce —Jones, the same day. [1584] It stated that;

‘we have read your draft of the contract dated 15 April 2008. Two'or three of the
points do cause Trolex some concern and are not acceptable, We have not come back
to you on these points because the whole issue of our SA operation has come under
review at board level, Without going into too much detail, we are not pursuing any
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agency/distributor agreements with anyone until we have cartied out an in depth
analysis of our company’s operations in SA. This could take 3-4 months up to June
‘08, Once the outcome and findings have been received and actions declded on, we
will have 2 clearer picture of where Trolex is going in SA in the future. 1 understand
that the only business has been a couple of chekers to date and nothing else is
outstanding at the present time so there are no potential issues left to cause any
immediate concem,’ :

67. This emai was a classic polite brush-off. Glatt did not take the circumlocttory hint, Two
days later, on 9 May, Glatt wrote back by email.[1584] The tone is supplicatory, He

states:

I can really appreciate that you are reviewing your situation, and that the uncertainty
must be demotivating for &l Although I understand where you are soming from, we
are now in a very difficult situation. One of our strengths is our dealer network where
we have invested heavily in finding the right people and developing trust,
relationships and business. Based on our discussion with Ken, we have introduced and

. promoted Trolex to our network. And while the order tally so far is small the

' prospects are excollent, In fact, I am impressed at how quickly we have been able to
develop the situation to the extent that orders are now starting to flow.I have done all

. this on & gentleman’'s oral agreement with Ken. And I have every confidence that

. Trolex will make good on their word. But I de think it i important that we have some
documentation on where we are, I am also concerned about your comments with
respect to the draft contract and would valugs reviewing the points that eoncem you so
that we can all understand where our comfort zones He and whers [ may have

incorrectly reflacted our agreements.’

68, The ﬁext event of note, almost two months later, is Glatt’s letter of 23 July 2008 [1613]in

which he purports to sum up the histéry of the interaction. The material portions are thus:

‘1. In October ‘07 Peter Dawson and I discussed the possibility of Trolex and
N&Z working together in South Africa. Peter's proposal was that we should
distribute to the industrial market and our response was that we should look at all
. markets that Trolex SA was not currently involved in, Our rational [sic] was that
N&Z covers virtually the whole countty through its offices in Johannesburg,
Durban and Cape Town and its carefully constructed sub-distributor netwaork,

2. A few monthy later Ken Dawson and Jacques Martens visited us and gave a
presentation on Trolex products to our sales team, Ken, Jacques and I discussed
the way forward as I was very apprehensive about working as a sub-digtributor of
2 South Aftican Company (Trolex SA) because of the conflicts that could ariss,
Ken made it clear that Trolex SA currently had their hands. full with the coal
mining industry and associated OEMs and N&Z could add value by distributing to
the rest of the market. He also strongly motivated that Trolex was & highly ethical
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company and seeks to work with end support their parters, Based on these:
discussions T drafled a Distéibution agreement (A) which I gent to Trolex but
more importantly we immediately siarted marketing Trolex products with
enthuslasim,

---------------- LR T Ty ST T I R YT ITYY

5. Distributorship Agreement

After much prompﬁng, Trolex responded to my Agreemént by way of an
Agrcgmm on Trolex letterheads, dated 2™ April 08 (B).

A few days later David Green was in South Affioa ond we mot at Trolex £4 with
Jecques gnd Zia to finalize the Aercement. Afier in-denth discirssioms we all
agreed and the changes to this Agreement were noted by me at the meeting, [
subsequently produced Rev 1 of this Agreement, dated 15 April 08 (C). Trolex SA
and N&Z have continued to work to this model. I know that David has said there
are some errore = [ aim unawars of thoso oxoopt for o typs on #5.2,

6. I have had two meetings with Lee which were unfostunately marked by
disagreement with regard to (2) the de-facto distributorship arrangement and (b)
our involvement in the methane drainage project. 1 presented to him the
information above.’

(Emphasis supplied)

68. The next day Glatt submitted anothor lotter headed: ‘Re: Propesal Tivloa appuiuls N&Z

as their exclusive distributor in Southern Africa”. In it is 2 SWAT analysis about TSA and

an offer to take over the TSA staff,

70. These letters solicited only an outwardly polite acknowledgement on 25 Tuly from John

Pieroe —Jones which pointedly evaded being drawn into a discussion.

71, This sequenee of events roust be evaluated for relevance to the critical question: do the

contents point towards an agreement as alleged? In my view, the answer smust be no.
From the walter of exchanges some stand out, First, Glatt’s response on 9 May to the
news that no agency agreement will be concluded was not to refiite that statement as
nonsense and to assert the terms of an existing binding agreement. The omission of such

an assertion is remarkable, more especially Bauauae he articulates his grievance that NZ
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has invested resources into the relaﬁonsﬁp. However, Glatt then descyibed his
predicament es the result of having “done all this on a gentleman’s oral agreément with
Ken™, The ordinary meaning of that label is an agreement that is unenforceable and
performance is forthconing at the whim of the promissor, upon which he stakes his
honour and no more. So much is evident from Glatt’s further remark that he has
confidence that Trolex will make good on their word. (Ses the remarks of Alkema Jin

Siyepu & Others v Premier, Eastern Cape 2013 (2) SA 425 (ECB) at [22] « [23]

about a ‘gentleman’s agreement’) Moreover, the overall tenor of Glatt’s email of 9 May

addresses the prospects of concluding an agreement not resuscitating a broken one,

In the letter of 22 July Glatt took up this themne again when he tries, as he says, to give a

history. He refers o the 4 December meeting with Ken Dawson, He describes that

interaction es ‘discussions’. Even after all this time he stl] does not allege an agreement

ot 4 Deceraber, Importantly, what he does state jg that:

“Based on these discussions | drafved a distribution agreement (ie[1530] of 2

February 2008, altnost 3 months later) which [ sent to Trolex but more importanily we _

immediately started marketing Trolex products with enthusiasm.”
(Emphasis supplied), :

These communications are not consistent with an agreement being reached in December
2007. Indeed, it pleads that NZ went out on @ limb on the basis of expectations of an
agreement being reached. Later in that letter, afier traversing various dealings, (Glatt, (in
paregraphs 5 and 6 of the email as cited above), addresses the distributorship agreement.
His articulated grievance is that the ‘model’ of the agreement he drafted is the basis on
which business prospects have been pursued and he asserts that a *de Jacto arvangement’

exists, and again, sighificantly, does not allege an agreement. It seems to me that thege
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expressions contradict the notion of an actual agreement. Indeed, what they convey is the
disappointment of a businessman who has exposed himself on the basis of an expactation
that is not being fulfilled and seeks to prociaim the value of the relztionship to the other

party, hoping to resuscitate prospects,
The ‘deslings’ between N2 and Trolex December 2007 — July 2008

74. Thus far,.the examination of the evidence has addressed the communications that
specifically bear on the articulation of terms of an agrecment. What remains is a
consideration of NZ's contentions thet coroboration for s sgreement can be found from
these facts:

74.1. The amendment of the prige list.
" 742. © The several quotes given by TSA to NZ,

74.3, Two product training sessions on 4 December 2007 and 3 March 2008
The price list

75. It is undisputed that_ Hutton made the changes to a list gencrated after 9 April. There is no
evidence of an actual amended price list before then, other than her say-so, In both
instances she says she acted on Maartens’ instruction, She also says she did so in

' discussion with Green on 9 April. The submission is that this is consistent with Trolex
agreeing to a 40 % price, This is correct, Howévar, the directors repudiate the price and
brand it the work of maverick staff with no instructions to do so, Maartens and Hutton
contradict that repudiation and while asserting no authority of their own to fix a price,

rely on their say-so that Dawson and Green authorised the prices after agreeing them with
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Glatt in those terms. Accordingly, whether the changes were authorised or not turns on
credibility no less than the probabilities. The probabilities have already been addressed
and in my view are against such a price having been agreed, The credibility aspect is

addressed specifically elsewhere.

The quoles

76, The dirsciors were ignorant of the quotes that carried a 20 % and later 8 40 % discount,

As eatly as 19 December, Peter Dawson expressed annoyance gt & defiance of
instructions sbout & quote and solicited NZ to direct inquiries to TUK. NZ did not do so
but persisted in treating with TSA. As no arders were placed, save for items called
*chekers’ the probabilities of their ignorance ié established, Upon thet factual finding -
there is no inconsistency befween the dirsetors’ denjal of an agreement and theis
conducing trade in accordance with the terms denied. Morsover, the ignorance of the
discount rates that Maartens sought to apply is richly illustrated from the contents of an
internal Trolex email on 21 July 2008 from John Pierce - Jones to Maartens about the
Beatrix mine deal for a methane monitor.{1608] This deal is addressed moré fully
hercafter; for present purposes it is sufficient to note that Pierce — Jones says to Maartens
he is: '
‘intrigued to see that you had included a 20% discount to your client. I presume
this amount has been factored into the price, and if that is the case there is no
problem, It is very unusual to give this level of discount on a large project. For
future reference, it might help youto know that it {s usually in the region of 7.5%
- 10 % on a project t of this size, Obviously these things have to be negotiated and

thus information is just a guide, The discount is not for the mine but for Pyradim,
the company that will be assisting us in this project....’

77. An argument was advanced about Trolex belng bound by the conduct of Maartens. That

is incorrect. Maartens was at pains to make it plain that his actions were not in terms of
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authority vested in him but entirely on instructions from the directors. The mere fact of
o dealings in the form of quotes, the dispited price aside, proves no mors than Trolew and
: NZ wanted to do business together, and cannot establish the terms of the alleged contract,
Moreover the email cited is strong corroboration of the dirsctors’ ignorance of the 20%
rate no leg§ than of the 40% rata haing in anfial vse by TSA and of Dawoon s Crean

having agreed thereto,
The product training

7%. The faot of troiniag, @est by Daswidw v 4 Duveudber and lawr by Waarens on s mareh
2008, demonstrates, similarly to the point addressed above, a desire to do business and no

mors,
The controversial Beatrix Mine transaction

79, A sale by Trolex of goods to Besatrix mine is the foundation of the money claity and its

genesis warrants specific attention,

B0. What the evidence dliscloses is that Tratex via Pyradim tried to secure a salo to Beatsls
Mine of & methane gas monitor, Pyradim was a sub-distributor for NZ too. A quote was
given by TSA on 12 June 2008 to Pyradim. As altuded to earlier, a 20 % discount was
included, Moreover, Maartens had taken the lead on this potentia! transaction. Maagtens’
conduct in this regard is inconsistent with what he later says was the agreement in place

between NZ and Trolex about exclusivity. If an exclusivity agreement was in place, the .

FeGTT
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quote should have been to NZ and included 2 40 % discount at that date, This conduct

contradicts his evidence abous the terms of the agreement,

81, The main events arc echoed in varlous emeil communications, By 18 July, the potential
deal was still hovering, and John Pierce - Jones directed that TUK take full charge,
meaning, in affect, that Lee Plerce — Jones, who was in Johannesburg at the time, be -
hands oﬁ. Lee Pierce — Iones, Ialso on 18 July; repo;'ted back to John Piercé -;f ones that
there were several I;i'nblcms. He reported that Martens hed told him two stories about
how the lead came abbﬁt. Impnrtantly, he alludes to Maartens asking Lee Pierce - Jones
1o appoint Pyradim es a distributor and was irate when this was refused, whereupon Lee
Pierce — Jones relented and sanctioned an ad hoc appointment. An allusion was made t0
the p'ossibility of re-routing the deal via NZ whereupon Pyradim could then wregtle with
NZ abot the commission, Three days later John Pierce - Jones wrote té Maartens 1o

.addre;ss severai biccups and made the remarks about the aberrant allowing of a 20 %,

discount cited ebove,

82, The following day, 22 July, Lee Pietce = Jones reparted fo Joho Pierce — Jones on 8
meeting with Glatt. [1611] the email contains important statements bearing on what the

parties” stance was about their relationship. It reads:

% Hello all,
Jacques and T had a meeting this moming with Rod Glatt from N&Z.
QOur position was:

We would pay commisslon on any business réiating 1o an
Environmental Monitoting léad which he had brought to our sttention
via Pyradim (Pyradim being the sale sgent in the mine area)

The methane drainage lead came about when during 2 visit to the mine
Jacques was referred to a senior engineer.
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N&Z did ot initiate this lead have not been involved with it at any
stage and were not aware of it until Trolex informed them therefore
they are not entitled to the commission.

The faet that N&Z introduced us to Pyradim in relation to the
Environmental Monitoring lead does not entitle N&Z to commission
on any other leads we might encounter in conjunction with Pyradim,

The distributership agreement has not been ratified and {s still under
discussion.

"NandZ did not know about the lead until we made him aware of it
. (during my last mesting with him)

" His position was:

Dave Green and Ken Dawson made & distributorship agreement with
him, therefore the document which recently sent to TUK applies in this
case.

We became aware of the lead because of N&Z.

We went back and forth with this for a while — he being adamant that we have agreed
& distributorship deal. Everything I had to state as a fina} position that we would
honour payment of commission of Environmental Monitoring but would not pay
comumission on the methane drainage lead. He then accused me of being a double
dealer at point I ended the meeting,

Pyradix;i have been brought up to date. He does not fee] that are any potential
problems that might arise with the order...” [1611]

83. The next day Glatt penned the letter cited abové in parsgraph 62, in which he alludad to
the meetings with Lee- Pierce ~ Jones and the disagreement about the “de facto™

distributorship arrangement’,

84. As it turned out, the Beatrix deal, in its then form, foundered and on 13 August 2008 John
Pierce — Jones ackndwledgeé Maartens® email that the Beatrix project had gone out to
tender. A cryptic remark is made about an opportunity to re-pitch a quote to pragmatically
resolve the bitterness aver the deal from NZ end soothe tempers. Subsequently, Trolex

secured the deal and in or about March 2009, the goods wers supplied to Beatrix.
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85. It is plain that neither Maartens nor Lee Pierce ~ Jones acted as if an agreement as alleged
was in existence, The reforence by Lee Pierce -Jones to an introduction commission
being the only model for sharihg in the spoils is notable, as was his tender to pay a
commigsion on such other deals where there had been an introduction, The perception by
Lee Pierce - Jones that nio agreement existed was tied to the need for ‘ratification’, & he
put it, a stance consistent with Trolex's position at trial. Glatt’s reported utterances that
NZ had 2 an agreement with Ken Dawson and Green is the first such assertion; which
asscrtion must be read with the allusion by Glatt on 9 May io a ‘gentleman’s agréemcnt‘

and on 23 July to “de facto distributorship arrangement’, -

86. Inmy view, this course of évcnts does not cotroborate an agresment as alleged. The

contingent nafure of the references to terms under discussion is manifest.
The credibility and reliability of the evidence of Maartens and of Hutfon

87. The trial court was persuaded that the testimony of Maartens and Hutton was unreliable.

In my view that finding was correct.

88, The dliraotors alleged that Maartens acted recklessly and contradicted instructions given to
him. Instances have been addfésbed already, Lee Pierce Jones was breathing down his
neck and he reéigne.d on 30 Jatuary 2009, When the litigation brewed, Maartens was
approached to consult with the Trolex lawyers. He evaded this, and turned up as a NZ,
witness, It emerged that his departure wﬁs utider a cloud, There were issues about money

being owed for hia cell phone. Also there were allegations about irregulatities in
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managing the prox?ident fund contributions, It was wholly appropriate to construe his

stanice was hostile to Trolex and influenced by personel grievances.

89, However, the most important reasons for regarding his evidence with suspicion are that it
seemed that he tried too hard to back up Glart’s version of en agreement and stumbled in
his zesl, He too made a ‘mistake’ in attributing 40 % commission to the 4 De'camllzer
agresment, How could he do so, when he cmlxse;;l quotes to be issued at 20%% Thenhe
claims that an agresment was reached on price st the January 2008 meeting in Norwood,
when Glatt has no recollection of that happening and ignores that encouniter entirely in his
own évidence int cmef s it conceivable that on so vital an issue Glatt conld forget and
Maattens temember? Then, on the actua! exchanges between Glatt and Dawson and
Green he o*'fcrc:d 1o substance about the discussion. He emphasises the handshake on 4
December. About the 9 April price variation, he says Green seemed not to have a problem
with 40%, & weak and evasive remark, He tries, disingenuously in my view, to distance
.lﬁmself from the composi;nion of the lApril draft and suggest Hutton is the &ue author;
ghe saying he read it over her shoulder. Moreover, he concedes & 40 % discount stripped
Trolex bare of proﬁt exposing the implausibility of that ever having been a seriously
considered cholce by Trolex. And lasﬁy, he could not have deslt with Pyradim and
Beatrix in the way he did if he believed there was 2 liability of a 40% commission to pay
to NZ by so doing. Indeed, his conduct affords no qofroi:oration of the 40% penalty

cormmission.

90, The tangential argument about Maartens’ authority to bind Trolex is a red herring.
_ Maartens was &t pains to disavow any authority to bind Trolex and NZ's case at no time

avers that he represented Trolex in reaching an agreement.
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/3 91, Hutton’s hostility to Trolex was even more transparent. She was, indsed legitimately,

{
aggrieved by her sudden retrenchment, On her perspective it amounted to an unfair
dismissal, This was an especially insulting biow because she had been implored by TSA

to return to it after she had moved on only a year or so earlier, She was treated shabbily.

92. She stated bluntly she did 'not' want to be on the side of Trolex and cams to festify for NZ.
She can:mntrihute nothing about the 4 Deceﬁber agresment. She wes present on 9 April
and says the 40% increase was approved, Yet, she too offers no substance to that having
hapj)éncd at the meeting and why the introduction commission formula might have been
changed for exclusivi'ijr and a.penalty qussion yet she claims that immediately after
the 9 April meeting, Green aumﬁrised the amendment to the price list, which Green
denied flatly, She seys also that Maartens instructed the 40 % rate be eﬁ‘ectéd, but further,

like Masartens, she acknowledged the absence of business sense for Trolex tcj agree to

such a rate,
93. In my view neither of these witnesses was reliable,
Conclusion

94, In my view, the travetse of the facts of the engagement between Trolex and NZ do not,
upon a holistic appreciation, in accordance with the authorities ciied above, substantiate
the contention that the alleged agreemant was indeed reached on 4 December a5 o

ex¢lusivity, and a commission payable for trespass, and that later on 9 April the rate wag

varied to 40%.
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I agree.
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